NO. 2010-CA-00641

IN THE MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT

DONALD McKEOWN, INDIVIDUALLY AND AS PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE DECEDENT, JANICE McKEOWN, FOR AND ON BEHALF OF ALL WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES AND AS ADMINISTRATOR OF THE ESTATE OF JANICE McKEOWN, DECEASED

Pla

Plaintiff-Appellant

V.

ROBERT V. PITCOCK, M.D.

Defendant-Appellee

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF UNION COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

S. RAY HILL, III, MSB CLAYTON O'DONNELL, PLLC 1005 JACKSON AVENUE P.O. DRAWER 676 OXFORD, MISSISSIPPI 38655 Telephone: (662) 234-0900

Facsimile: (662) 234-3557

Attorney for Appellant

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Whether the trial court erred in excluding the cause of death listed on the certified copy of the death certificate of the decedent, Janice McKeown.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This medical malpractice action arises out of the death of Janice McKeown. Donald McKeown, Janice's husband, filed a complaint in the Union County Circuit Court against Robert V. Pitcock, M.D., Baptist Memorial Hospital – Union County, Inc., Carolyn Estes, C.N.F.P., North Mississippi Medical Clinics, Inc. d/b/a New Albany Medical Clinic, and Dale Wing, M.D. The Complaint alleged that these medical providers breached the standard of care in failing to diagnose and treat Janice's serious heart condition and that said breach caused Janice's death. (R. 9-21)

Baptist Hospital and Dr. Dale Wing were voluntarily dismissed from the case. The remaining parties proceeded to trial. Prior to the start of *Voir Dire*, the Court held a hearing on all pending Motions in *Limine*, including the Defendants' motion to exclude the cause of death listed in the death certificate. After reviewing the briefs of the parties, hearing arguments of counsel, and considering the testimony of Union County Deputy Coroner Kim Bumpus, the trial court granted this motion. The basis for this decision was the trial court's opinion that Kim Bumpus, who filled out the death certificate, lacked the "education, training, and experience necessary to give an opinion regarding the cause of death." (R.E. 2, 3) (R. 96)

At the close of the trial, the jury found that Dr. Pitcock violated the standard of care in treating Janice McKeown. (R. 76). The jury, however, did not find that this breach of the standard of care caused Janice McKeown's death. (R.E. 4) (R. 77). The jury also found that Defendant, Nurse Carolyn Estes, did not violate the standard of care in her treatment of Janice McKeown. (R.E. 4) (R. 77).

Based on the jury verdict, the Court entered its Judgment in favor of the Defendants. (R.E. 4) (R. 76-77). The Plaintiff sought a new trial on the issues of causation and damages *only*

as to his claims against Dr. Pitcock based on the trial court's exclusion of the cause of death listed in the death certificate. (R. 79-89). The trial court denied the request for a new trial (R.E. 2) (R. 96) and the Plaintiff perfected an appeal to this Court. (R. 98-99).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Janice McKeown, age 40, first reported to the Baptist Memorial Hospital-Union County Emergency Room on October 12, 2003, where she was treated by emergency room doctor, Robert V. Pitcock, M.D. (Plaintiff's Exhibit 1, R. 5-18). Janice complained of having trouble breathing and chest pain. Dr. Pitcock ordered a chest x-ray. The findings showed that her heart was enlarged. The EKG performed at the hospital revealed that Janice had a left bundle branch block. (P-1, R. 17). Shortness of breath, chest pain, an enlarged heart, and a left bundle branch block are signs of a serious heart condition and Janice should have received a complete cardiac evaluation. (Plaintiff's Exhibit 8- Evidentiary Deposition of Dr. Frank Westmeyer, pp 60-70). However, despite these obvious signs that Janice was having heart problems, Dr. Pitcock failed to admit her to the hospital or take any other steps to monitor her heart condition. He also failed to refer her to a heart specialist to perform the necessary catheterization. Instead, he diagnosed her with bronchitis and sent her home. (P-1, R. 12). These actions on the part of Dr. Pitcock violated the standard of care. (P-8, pp 60-70).

Janice's symptoms, however, persisted so she followed up with a local nurse practitioner, Nurse Carolyn Estes. Janice saw Nurse Estes on four occasions. (Plaintiff's Exhibit 2, R. 19-51). On the final visit, Nurse Estes diagnosed Janice with "early congestive heart failure." (P-2. R. 36).

On the evening of November 15, 2003, five (5) days after her last visit to Nurse Estes, Janice McKeown told her husband, Donald, that she felt tired and went upstairs to lay down (Trial Transcript, Testimony of Donald Mckeown, pp. 119-121) Donald and his twelve year old

¹ A left bundle branch block is a cardiac conduction abnormality where activation of the left ventricle is delayed. (P-8, pp. 60-61)

son, David, remained in the dining room where they were putting together a model truck. <u>Id.</u> Prior to going to bed, David went to the bedroom to see about his mother. <u>Id.</u> He came back and told his father that he could not find his mother anywhere. <u>Id.</u> Donald then went to the bedroom. After noticing that Janice was not in the bedroom, he saw that a light was on in the master bathroom. Donald knocked on the door but there was no response. <u>Id.</u> When he opened the door to the bathroom, he saw his wife, Janice, lying on the floor. <u>Id.</u> He immediately called 911. Unfortunately, by the time the paramedics made it to the home, Janice had died. <u>Id.</u> (Plaintiff's Exhibit 3- Ambulance Report, R. 52).

The paramedics contacted the Union County Coroner's office. The Coroner, Mark Golding, was out of town. For this reason, the Deputy Coroner, Kim Bumpus, came to the McKeown home. (Trial Transcript, Testimony of Kim Bumpus, pp. 10-15). After making an examination of the body and its surroundings, she asked Donald McKeown if he wanted an autopsy performed. When Donald McKeown asked her what he should do, she recommended not performing one since it appeared to her that Janice had died of a massive heart attack. Based on this recommendation, Donald chose not to have an autopsy performed. (Trial Transcript, Testimony of Donald McKeown, p. 122)

Kim Bumpus then continued her standard investigation into the death. She took a medical history, took note of the medications Janice was taking, and spoke with Nurse Estes about the medications she had prescribed to Janice for her heart condition. (Trial Transcript, Testimony of Kim Bumpus, pp. 10-15) After completing her investigation, she filled out and signed the death certificate listing the cause of death as follows: Immediate Cause: Cardiopulmonary Failure;

Due to or a Consequence of: Congestive Heart Failure (Plaintiff's Exhibit 10- ID only, R. 61)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court abused its discretion in excluding the cause of death listed in the certified copy of the death certificate. This decision denied the Plaintiff his substantial right to present his key piece of causation evidence.

Miss Code Ann. § 41-57-9, Certified Copies of Evidence, states as follows:

Any copy of the records of birth, sickness or death, when properly certified to by the state registrar of vital statistics, to be a true copy thereof, shall be prima facie evidence in all courts and places of the facts therein stated. A facsimile signature of the registrar shall be sufficient for certification when the certificate shall have impressed hereon the seal of the Mississippi Department of Public Health.

(Miss Code Ann. § 41-57-9, emphasis added)

Furthermore, a death certificate is an exception to the hearsay rule pursuant to *Mississippi Rule of Evidence* 803 (9). A death certificate is also self-authenticating pursuant to *Mississippi Rule of Evidence* 902 (4). The Mississippi Supreme Court has also held that a death certificate may be used as evidence in a medical malpractice trial as *prima facie* evidence of the cause of death. Erby v. North Mississippi Medical Center, 654 So.2d 495 (Miss. 1995). *See also* Massachusetts Protective Association v. Cranford, 102 So. 171 (1924) (holding that death certificate is *prima facie* proof of the primary physical cause of death.).

Consequently, the decision to exclude the cause of death listed in the death certificate was without legal basis and denied the Plaintiff his substantial right to present his key piece of evidence regarding causation. Without a doubt, causation was the most hotly contested issue at the trial due to the fact that no autopsy was performed. The Defendants went to great lengths in this case to argue that the cause of Janice's death was unknown. They repeatedly pointed to a lack of an autopsy and suggested that Janice could have died from a multitude of causes. The cause of death listed in the death certificate, which is an official record of the State of Mississippi

and was completed by an impartial Deputy Coroner, was a crucial piece of evidence that the Plaintiff desperately needed to fill the "void of uncertainty" left by the lack of an autopsy. The failure to allow him to introduce said evidence was extremely prejudicial as evidenced by the fact that even though a jury found that Dr. Pitcock violated the standard of care, it still found that this breach did not cause Janice McKeown's death.

ARGUMENT

The trial court's decision to exclude the cause of death listed in the certified copy of Janice McKeown's death certificate was an abuse of discretion and denied the Plaintiff his substantial right to introduce his key piece of causation evidence.

A. Standard of Review

This Court's standard of review when considering the denial of a post-trial motion based on the exclusion of evidence is one of abuse of discretion. Pierce v. Cook, 992 So. 2d 612, 620 (Miss. 2008). This Court has stated: "Where error involves the admission or exclusion of evidence, this Court 'will not reverse unless the error adversely affects a substantial right of a party." Id. at 221 (quoting Floyd v. City of Crystal Springs, 749 So. 2d 110, 113 (Miss. 1999)). See also In re Estate of Mask, 703 So. 2d 852, 859 (Miss. 1997); Terrain Enters., Inc. v. Mockbee, 654 So. 2d 1122, 1131 (Miss. 1995). White v. Yellow Freight System, Inc., 905 So. 2d 506, 510-11 (Miss. 2004)).

B. The trial court abused its discretion in excluding the cause of death listed in the certified copy of Janice McKeown's death certificate

Miss Code Ann. § 41-57-9, Certified Copies of Evidence, states as follows:

Any copy of the records of birth, sickness or death, when properly certified to by the state registrar of vital statistics, to be a true copy thereof, *shall be prima facie evidence in all courts and places of the facts therein stated.* A facsimile signature of the registrar shall be sufficient for certification when the certificate shall have impressed hereon the seal of the Mississippi Department of Public Health.

(Miss Code Ann. § 41-57-9, emphasis added)

Furthermore, a death certificate is an exception to the hearsay rule pursuant to *Mississippi* Rule of Evidence 803 (9). A death certificate is also self-authenticating pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Evidence 902 (4). The Mississippi Supreme Court has also held in no uncertain terms

that a death certificate may be used as evidence in a medical malpractice trial as *prima facie* evidence of the cause of death. In <u>Erby v. North Mississippi Medical Center</u>, 654 So.2d 495 (Miss. 1995), the Mississippi Supreme Court ruled that the trial court erroneously granted summary judgment in a medical malpractice case when the Plaintiff provided evidence of a death certificate and expert testimony which satisfied his burden of producing a causal connection between the theory of negligence and the death of the plaintiff's decedent. 654 So. 2d at 501-502. *See also* Massachusetts Protective Association v. Cranford. 102 So. 171 (1924) (holding that death certificate is prima facie proof of the primary physical cause of death.); <u>Flowers v. State</u>, 243 So. 2d 564, 565 (Miss. 1971).

In the case at bar, the trial court excluded the cause of death listed in the death certificate because it was of the opinion that Deputy Coroner Kim Bumpas was not qualified to give an opinion regarding cause of death. The qualifications of Kim Bumpas, however, are not the issue. The Plaintiff was not seeking to call Kim Bumpus as an expert to testify regarding cause of death. The Plaintiff was simply seeking to admit into evidence a complete, certified copy of a death certificate. The issue is solely whether or not the death certificate is admissible. Mississippi law is clear that a certified copy of a death certificate is *prima facie* evidence in all courts of the facts stated therein. Miss. Code Ann. § 41-57-9.

Prima facie evidence, by its very definition, should not be excluded. While prima facie evidence can be rebutted, a trial court is simply not allowed to determine that prima facie evidence can be rebutted as a matter of law. Erby, 654 So.2d at 501-502. See also Public Service Corporation v. Watts, 150 So. 192, 194 (Miss. 1933). This is precisely what the trial court did in the case at bar. This decision invaded the province of the jury and was an abuse of discretion.

If such a ruling were allowed to stand it could have far reaching implications on a variety of criminal and civil cases. In essence, the trial court had held that only medical doctors are qualified to list the cause of death in a death certificate. This has never been the law in Mississippi. Affirming this decision would also directly invade the province of the legislature, which adopted Miss Code Ann. § 41-57-9. Clearly, to affirm the decision of the trial court would be to disregard this statute in its entirety.

The better practice would be to simply follow the statute and the *Mississippi Rules of Evidence*, allow the cause of death in the death certificate into evidence, allow the Defendants the opportunity to rebut this *prima facie* evidence, and ultimately allow the jury to decide the issue of causation. Instead, the trial court took this issue out of the hands of the jury. This was an abuse of discretion.

C. The trial court's error denied the Plaintiff his substantial right to present his key piece of causation testimony.

The exclusion of the cause of death in the death certificate denied the Plaintiff his substantial right to present his key piece of evidence regarding cause of death. To be sure, causation was the most hotly contested issue in the trial due to the lack of an autopsy. As proof of this fact, this Court need only consider the length the Defendants went to in this case to point out to the Jury the lack of an autopsy and to argue that Janice could have died of any number of reasons.

For example, in her opening statement, Defense counsel for Dr. Pitcock contended that "nobody knows what [Janice McKeown] died of" and that she could have died from a brain aneurysm, a heart arrhythmia, a pharmacological problem, or any number of other reasons. (Trial Transcript, p. 97). Ms. Pradat went on to state that it was Donald Mckeown who chose not to

have an autopsy that would have explained the cause of death. (Trial transcript, p. 97).

In his opening argument, counsel for Nurse Estes likewise stated that had Janice had an autopsy "we would know" whether she had heart disease. He further stated that there can be no evidence of heart disease without an autopsy. (Trial Transcript, p. 103).

During his trial testimony, Dr. Pitcock refused to state that Janice died of a heart attack, stating that she could have died of a pulmonary embolism, subarachnoid hemorrhage, Triple AAA, heart attack, or pharmacological overdose. (Trial Transcript, p. 386 Dr. Pitcock stated that without an autopsy, Janice could have died from a pulmonary embolus. (Trial Transcript, p. 393)

Nurse Estes also testified that without an autopsy, there could have been many possible causes of death. (Trial Transcript, p. 424) Estes stated that an autopsy would have established whether or not McKeown had heart disease. (Trial Transcript, p. 472) Estes stated that if an autopsy was performed, a pathologist could look at her coronary vessels and cross-section them to determine the plaque or stenosis present. (Trial Transcript, p. 472)

Both Defense experts, Dr. Michael Stoddard and Dr. William Loper, testified that Janice could have died from any number of reasons. (Trial Transcript, p. 512-515). Dr. Loper testified that only an autopsy would establish with certainty the cause of death. (Trial Transcript, p. 562-563).

And finally, in his closing argument, counsel for Dr. Pitcock again hammered home the lack of an autopsy in an effort to convince the jury that Janice could have died from a variety of causes other than heart disease. (Trial Transcript, p. 584).

As this Court can see, the Defendants were successful in creating a "void of uncertainty" regarding the cause of death. The cause of death listed in the death certificate, which is an official record of the State of Mississippi and was completed by an impartial Deputy Coroner,

was the Plaintiff's best chance to fill that void.

The Defendant will undoubtedly argue that the trial court's decision to exclude the cause of death listed in the death certificate was harmless error given the fact that the Plaintiff was allowed to present causation testimony through his expert witness, Dr. Frank Westmeyer. While it is true that Dr. Westmeyer's testimony was enough for the Plaintiff to survive a directed verdict on the issue of causation, it was certainly not the Plaintiff's key piece of causation evidence. In fact, the Plaintiff desperately needed the death certificate to bolster the testimony of Dr. Westmeyer, who was of the opinion that the Plaintiff died as a result of a heart attack brought on by congestive heart failure. Dr. Westmeyer's testimony, coupled with the official cause of death listed in death certificate, was a powerful and compelling argument regarding causation. Without the cause of death in the death certificate, Dr. Westmeyer's testimony was less persuasive and more easily rebutted by the Defendants.

Clearly, to deny a party the right to introduce a key piece of evidence on the most crucial issue in the case substantially prejudices that party and denies him the right to fair trial. See e.g. Mullins v. Wroten, 85 So. 2d 457, 458 (Miss. 1956) (holding that exclusion of prima facie evidence over key issue of boundary dispute warranted grant of new trial). For these reasons, the trial court's decision should be reversed, and this case remanded for a new trial on the issues of causation and damages.

CONCLUSION

The trial court abused its discretion in excluding the cause of death listed in the death certificate. This error denied the Plaintiff his substantial right to present his key piece of causation evidence. For this reason, the Plaintiff is entitled to a new trial. Since the jury determined that Dr. Pitcock breached the standard of care, but that this breach did not cause the death of Janice McKeown, the Plaintiff respectfully requests that this Court remand this case for a new trial only on the issues of causation and damages.

THIS, the 20th day of October, 2010.