IN THE SUPREME COURT OF STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DONALD McKEOWN, INDIVIDUALLY AND AS PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE DECEDENT, JANICE McKEOWN, FOR AND ON BEHALF OF ALL WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES AND AS ADMINISTRATOR OF THE ESTATE OF JANICE McKEOWN, DECEASED

APPELLANT

V.

CAUSE CASE NO. 2010-TS-00641

ROBERT V. PITCOCK

APPELLEE

(ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF UNION COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI)

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

> ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED <

L. Carl Hagwood, Esq. (MSB
Diane V. Pradat, Esq. (MSB
J. Michael Coleman, Esq. (MSB
Wilkins Tipton, P.A.
Post Office Box 13429
Jackson, Mississippi 39236-3429
Telephone: (601) 366-4343
Telefax: (601) 981-7608

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

- 4 -

After due deliberation, the jury found that Dr. Pitcock breached the standard of care in his treatment of McKeown, but that this breach was not the proximate cause of her death. R. vol. VI p. 602. The jury found that Nurse Estes did not breach the standard of care in her treatment of McKeown. *Id.* The Plaintiff then moved for a new trial asserting, as he does here, that the jury did not find that the actions of Dr. Pitcock were the proximate cause of Mrs. McKeown's death merely because the opinion of Ms. Bumpas as to the probable cause of death on the death certificate was excluded. R. vol. VI p. 605-610. That motion was denied, and this appeal followed.

. . .

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mr. McKeown contends that, because of the provisions of Miss. Code Ann. §41-57-9, a death certificate *must* be admitted into evidence at trial regardless of it's reliability and trustworthiness. This argument is simply wrong. There are many instances in which this Court has found that all, or part, of a death certificate was properly excluded, or should have been.

In the present case, the trial court properly excluded the opinion stated in the death certificate as to the probable cause of Mrs. McKeown's death. The person rendering that opinion was not qualified to render it, and she admitted on the witness stand just prior to trial that the opinion was unreliable in that she could not rule out a significant number of other possible causes of death. Thus, the trial court properly excluded the opinion related to the probable cause of death, as listed in the death certificate.

- 6 -

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review.

Mr. McKeown properly identified the standard of review in this case as an abuse-of-discretion. Likewise, "The standard of review for the admission or exclusion of expert testimony is the same as for other evidence, an abuse of discretion." *Burnwatt v. Ear, Nose & Throat Consultants of N. Miss.*, PLLC, 2010 Miss. LEXIS 476 (¶18)(Miss. Sept. 16, 2010) (citing *Poole ex rel. Wrongful Death Beneficiaries of Poole v. Avara*, 908 So. 2d 716, 721 (Miss. 2005) (citing *Miss. Transp. Comm'n v. McLemore*, 863 So. 2d 31, 34 (Miss. 2003)). *See also Investor Res. Servs., Inc. v. Cato*, 15 So. 3d 412, 416 (Miss. 2009); *Adcock v. Miss. Transp. Comm'n*, 981 So. 2d 942, 946 (Miss. 2008).

Any opinion related to the probable cause of death of Mrs. McKeown was expert opinion in that it called for "experience or expertise beyond that of the average, randomly selected adult." *See Crawford v. State*, 754 So. 2d 1211, 1215 (Miss. 2000) (citing *Puckett v. State*, 737 So. 2d 322, 342 (Miss. 1999). Thus, this Court should not reverse the trial court unless it concludes that the decision to exclude Ms. Bumpas' opinion as to the probable cause of Mrs. McKeown's death was arbitrary and clearly erroneous, amounted to an abuse of discretion, and the error adversely affected a substantial right of Mr. McKeown.

II. The Opinion Testimony in the Death Certificate was not Admissible.

Mississippi Rule of Evidence 702 governs the admissibility of expert testimony, providing:

If scientific, technical or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise, if (1) the testimony is based upon sufficient facts or data, (2) the testimony is the product of reliable principles and methods, and (3) the witness has applied the principles and methods reliably to the facts of the case. MISS. R. EVID. 702 (amended May 29, 2003). The Mississippi Supreme Court, by adopting Rule 702, requires this Court to act as the gatekeeper of all expert testimony. *Miss. Transportation Commission v. McLemore*, 863 So. 2d 31, 36 (Miss. 2003) (citing *Daubert v. Merrill Dowell Pharmaceuticals, Inc.*, 509 U.S. 579, 589 (1993)). In addition to recognizing the trial court as the gatekeeper of testimony, the Mississippi Supreme Court adopted the *Daubert* standard that expert testimony should only be allowed if "the trial judge determines that the testimony rests on a reliable foundation and is relevant in a particular case" *McLemore*, 863 So. 2d at 36.

Thus, before an expert opinion is proffered to the jury, the witness must be qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training or education. Ms. Bumpas was not qualified in this regard. She was an intermediate level EMT with a week's worth of training as a deputy coroner. Mr. McKeown argues, "In essence, the trial court had held that only medical doctors are qualified to list the cause of death in a death certificate." *Appellant's Brief* at p. 11. While Mr. McKeown argues that "this has never been the law in Mississippi," he fails to point out what the law is.

The truth of the matter is that the trial court did not hold that only doctors can list the cause of death in a death certificate. Instead, the trial court held that Ms. Bumpas could not do so. And, to pick up where Mr. McKeown left off, this Court has held that even nurses cannot testify as to medical causation or cause of death. *See Richardson v. Methodist Hospital of Hattiesburg, Inc.*, 807 So. 2d 1244 (¶14)(Miss. 2002) and *Vaughn v. Miss. Baptist Med. Ctr.*, 20 So. 3d 645, 652 (¶ 20)(Miss. 2009). Thus, Ms. Bumpas does not meet the threshold test of being qualified to offer an opinion as to the cause of Mrs. McKeown's death.

Ms. Bumpas' opinion in the death certificate as to the cause of death does not meet the reliability requirement either. Regarding that element, "the trial court has considerable leeway in deciding in a particular case how to go about determining whether particular expert evidence is

- 8 -

reliable." *McLemore*, 863 So. 2d at 37 (citations omitted). However, in order for the trial court to admit expert testimony, it must determine that "the reasoning or methodology underlying the testimony is scientifically valid," and the "reasoning and methodology properly can be applied to the facts in issue." *Id.* at 36. "When determining reliability, this Court has held that the expert testimony must demonstrate that his opinion 'is based upon scientific methods and procedures, not unsupported speculation." *Utz v. Running & Rolling Trucking, Inc.*, 32 So. 3d 450, 457-458 (¶10)(Miss. 2010) (quoting *Adcock v. Miss. Transp. Comm'n*, 981 So. 2d 942, 947 (Miss. 2008).

Ms. Bumpas admitted in the hearing on the Defendants' motions *in limine* that her "investigation" was nothing more than a superficial examination of Mrs. McKeown's body on the scene and conversations with Nurse Estes and Mr. McKeown. She also admitted that she could not rule out several other conditions and illnesses which could have been the cause of Mrs. McKeown's death. R. vol. II p. 15. In other words, Ms. Bumpas' "visual inspection" would have been the same even if Mrs. McKeown died of poisoning, a pulmonary embolus, or a stroke. The only basis she had for choosing a heart attack over any other cause of death was the hearsay from Mr. McKeown and Nurse Estes.

The trial court correctly noted Ms. Bumpas' inability to rule out other possible causes of death as the basis for excluding those portions of the death certificate related to probable cause of death. R. vol. II p. 22-23. The mere fact that Ms. Bumpas' unreliable and unqualified opinion appeared in a document which itself was otherwise admissible does not change the fact that the witness offering the opinion on cause of death was not qualified to give such an opinion, nor does it make an unreliable opinion from an unqualified witness admissible.

Despite Miss. Code Ann. §41-57-9, a death certificate is still subject to the Mississippi Rules of Evidence. See Birkhead v. State, 2009 Miss. LEXIS 73 (¶34-36)(Miss. Feb. 19, 2009) (citing Jones

-9-

v. State, 918 So. 2d 1220, 1233 (Miss. 2005). In *Birkhead*, this Court held that the trial court erred by admitting portions of a death certificate which lacked trustworthiness because the opinion as to time of death relied on hearsay. *Id.* In addition to § 41-57-9, Mr. McKeown relies on Mississippi Rule of Evidence 803(9), and contends that Rule 803(9) specifically contemplates the admissibility of death certificates. However, nothing in Rule 803(9) provides that unreliable death certificates must be admitted. *McLemore* and Rule 702 still apply.

As pointed out in *Birkhead*, the comment to Rule 803 states, in pertinent part:

The experience in other jurisdictions which have adopted an identical rule has been that judges are exercising great caution in admitting these reports. Often they are being excluded if based on hearsay or the opinions of those not involved in the preparation of the report. The rule expressly gives judges the discretion to exclude such reports.

Miss. R. Evid. 803(8) cmt. Likewise, this Court has held, "Reading our Rule 803(8) and its comment together, trial judges should cautiously exercise their discretion in ruling on the admissibility of similar reports which are based on hearsay and/or contain opinions of persons not involved in the actual preparation of the report." *Jones v. State*, 918 So. 2d 1220, 1233 (¶ 32)(Miss. 2005). *Jones* involved a death certificate prepared by Bart J. Cowart, the duly-elected Tunica County coroner. *Id.* at ¶22. This Court held that because the death certificate in *Jones* lack trustworthiness, "the trial court did not err in excluding the coroner's report, in whole or in part."

Similarly, in the present case, Mr. McKeown attempted to rely on a death certificate prepared by a deputy coroner with no medical training qualifying her to determine the cause of a person's death, and which relied on hearsay to select the cause of death. While *Jones* and *Birkhead* deal with Rule 803(8), rather than 803(9), both cases still illustrate the fact that trial judges have the discretion to exclude all or part of a death certificate, regardless of § 41-57-9. In other words, even though a death certificate may be otherwise admissible, our trial judges must still act as gatekeepers and exclude unreliable and untrustworthy evidence and testimony. There are very few reported cases which address § 41-57-9, but no case supports Mr. McKeown's argument that all portions of a death certificate are admissible regardless of their foundation and reliability. To the contrary, § 41-57-9 merely provides that the certificate itself is *prima facie* evidence of its contents. It does not provide that a death certificate must be admitted into evidence, regardless of the trustworthiness or reliability of its contents.

Mr. McKeown relies heavily on *Erby v. North Mississippi Medical Ctr.*, 654 So. 2d 495, 501 (Miss. 1995) and *Massachusetts Protective Association v. Cranford*, 102 So. 171 (Miss. 1924). However, *Erby* did not address the admissibility of an admittedly unreliable opinion expressed in a death certificate. The issue in *Erby* was whether a plaintiff submitted sufficient *summary judgment evidence* on the issue of causation to create a jury question. *Erby*, 654 So. 2d at 496-497. As the court in *Erby* noted, "Erby's Supplemental Response exhibited the death certificate and the medical records of Cannon, which showed cause of death as cerebral vascular accident due to, or as a consequence of, diabetes." *Id.* at 497. In *Erby*, there was no evidence that the cause of death listed in the death certificate was unreliable. To the contrary, the medical records supported the death certificate. *Id.* Thus, *Erby* is of no benefit to Mr. McKeown here.

Likewise, *Cranford* is a 1924 insurance case dealing with an exclusion for suicide. *Cranford*, 172 So. at 896. The court in that case actually held that the death certificate at issue was *not* admissible because the "certificate undertakes to do more than the law authorizes it." Explaining more fully, the court held:

Coming now, lastly, to appellant's contention that the lower court ought to have permitted it to introduce the certificate of the bureau of vital statistics under section 4872, Hemingway's Code, as an aid in establishing the fact that the insured committed

suicide, as the certificate itself stated the death was "suicidal," we do not think the statute was intended to authorize certificates to be introduced as prima-facie evidence except as to the prime physical cause of death; and we do not now decide whether such certificates are ever admissible in such cases, because it is unnecessary to pass on it. This certificate attempts to state the cause of the cause of death, that is, it attempts to state how, why, and by whom the wound was inflicted that caused the death. Its authorized purpose under the act was no more than to state the cause of the death, viz., by a gunshot wound, as in this case, and not whether the wound was inflicted by any certain person, by assassination, by accident, or by intentional self-destruction. This certificate undertakes to do more than the law authorizes, its statement of fact goes beyond the purview of the law authorizing it, and was properly excluded by the lower court.

Id. at 173-174.

The cases relied upon by Mr. McKeown do not support his argument, and the trial judge in the present case did nothing more than exercise his discretion to exclude an unreliable and inadmissible opinion from an otherwise admissible document. Mr. McKeown argues on page 10 of his brief, that he was not seeking to call Ms. Bumpas as an expert. However, that is precisely what he was doing. By submitting the death certificate as prepared by Ms. Bumpas as evidence, Mr. McKeown was attempting to place an unreliable opinion from an unqualified expert before the jury. The trial court realized this, and struck the opinion. This was not an abuse of discretion, it was not arbitrary and clearly erroneous, and as will be even more clearly established below, it did not adversely affect a substantial right of Mr. McKeown.

III. If the Trial Court Erred by Excluding the Opinion Testimony as to Cause of Death in the Death Certificate, that Error was Harmless Given the Fact that this Evidence was Given to the Jury by Mr. McKeown and his Expert Witnesses.

As noted above, the portion of the death certificate at issue is Ms. Bumpas' opinion that the cause of Mrs. McKeown's death was "cardiopulmonary failure due to congestive heart failure." Even though this portion of the death certificate was redacted, the opinion that Mrs. McKeown died of heart failure was placed squarely before the jury in a number of ways. First, Mr. McKeown was allowed to

testify that Ms. Bumpas told him that Mrs. McKeown "died of a massive heart attack." The jury was then cautioned that Ms. Bumpas did not have the experience or qualifications to determine cause of death. R. vol. II p. 122-123. However, through this testimony, the jury was ultimately informed of Ms. Bumpas' opinion as to the cause of death.

Secondly, Mr. McKeown called two expert witnesses, one to testify against Dr. Pitcock and one to testify against Nurse Estes. Both of these experts testified extensively that they believed Mrs. McKeown suffered from heart disease and died of myocardial infarction (i.e. heart attack). *See*, i.e., R. Exhibits vol. II p. 182-217 and R. vol. III p. 154-203. The primary expert called against Dr. Pitcock testified that Mrs. McKeown "died of coronary artery disease, probably a myocardial infarction, perhaps complicated by congestive heart failure." R. Exhibits vol. II p. 217. The expert called to testify against Nurse Estes also offered extensive opinion testimony that Mrs. McKeown suffered from heart disease and possible heart failure. R. vol. III p. 154-203.

As Mr. McKeown points out, the standard of review in this case calls for a reversal only when the error adversely affects a substantial right of a party. *See Appellant's Brief* at p. 9, and *Dehenre v. State*, 43 So. 3d 407 (¶21) (Miss. 2010)(citing *Ladnier v. State*, 878 So. 2d 926, 933 (Miss. 2004) (citing *Whitten v. Cox*, 799 So. 2d 1, 13 (Miss. 2000) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted). No substantial right is affected when a trial court's decision to exclude evidence or testimony is cured by subsequent testimony. *See Simmons v. State*, 805 So. 2d 452, 498 (¶126)(Miss. 2001). Such error is, "thus harmless." *Id*.

No error was committed by the trial court in the case in question. However, even if redacting the unreliable opinion evidence from Mrs. McKeown's death certificate was error, it was cured when Mr. McKeown and his two experts provided subsequent testimony which more than adequately informed the jury about Mr. McKeown's theory as to the cause of death. Thus, there was no "void of uncertainty," as alleged by Mr. McKeown in his brief. *See Appellant's Brief* at p. 8.

Three witnesses testified that they believed Mrs. McKeown died of heart failure. Two of those witnesses were experts who provided even more detail about the alleged cause of death than Ms. Bumpas did in the death certificate. Therefore, Mr. McKeown's theory of the case regarding the cause of Mrs. McKeown's death was more than adequately placed before the jury, and the jury rejected it.

CONCLUSION

While, in general, death certificates are admissible and constitute *prima facie* evidence of the facts stated in them, death certificates are still subject to the Rules of Evidence, *McLemore*, and its progeny. The person who prepared the death certificate at issue here admitted that she was not qualified to determine the cause of death and that her opinion in that regard was unreliable. As such, the trial court correctly excluded the opinion as to the probable cause of death in the death certificate from the evidence in this case. No prejudice resulted to Mr. McKeown due to the exclusion of this evidence because he and two expert witnesses testified as to Mr. McKeown's theory on the cause of death. Thus, even if the trial court erred, and there is no authority supporting the notion that it did, that error was harmless. Therefore, the trial court should be affirmed.